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Name: CROXDALE HALL

District: County Durham (Unitary Authority)

Parish: City of Durham

District: County Durham (Unitary Authority)

Parish: Croxdale and Hett

label.localisation: Latitude: 54.733671

Longitude: -1.5730912

National Grid Reference: NZ 27588 37716

Map: Download a full scale map (PDF)

label.overview: Heritage Category: Park and Garden

Grade: II*

List Entry Number: 1001271

Date first listed: 28-Apr-1993

Details

A late C18 walled garden accompanying a country house and set in parkland of early to mid C18 origin. The walled garden

and lakes are by the designer Lewis Kennedy.

HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT

Croxdale Hall has been the seat of the Salvin family since the beginning of the C15. Bryan Salvin inherited in 1722 and was

responsible for improvements to the landscape which included the planting of a cross of avenues of Dutch elm which intersected

immediately to the west of the Hall. On his death in 1751, the estate passed to William Salvin (b 1723) who resided there until

his death in 1800, and who was responsible for the construction of the walled garden and its lakes.

William was keenly interested in the landscape, purchasing during the 1790s exotics from J G V Perfect, William Falla, Jonathan

White, and from John and George Telford of York, including a number of recent introductions from North America. His son,

William Thomas, continued the interest in horticulture and forestry, carrying out a number of 'experiments'. William Thomas'

correspondence includes letters from Joseph Sabine, Secretary of the Royal Horticultural Society, and Robert Menzies of the

Royal Botanic Garden, Edinburgh. Planting has been continued through the mid and later C20, particularly in the woodland

garden south of the lake which flows east/west through the walled garden. The site remains (1998) in single private ownership.

DESCRIPTION

LOCATION, AREA, BOUNDARIES, LANDFORM, SETTING Croxdale Hall sits on a low bluff on the east side of the valley

of the River Wear, south of Durham city. The site occupies c 205ha and is bounded by the River Wear to the west and north,

Hett Lane to the south-west, and a belt of woodland to the south. To the east the park merges with woodland and farmland.

ENTRANCES AND APPROACHES The main approach to Croxdale Hall is via a gatehouse on the B6300 to the west of the

site, reached via Sunderland Bridge which spans the River Wear. From here, flanked by a double line of sycamores, the drive

runs north-east across the park, parallel to the river, before turning sharply east onto the line of the early C18 approach and

on an axis with the Hall. At the foot of the bluff on which the Hall stands, it crosses the Croxdale Beck over a single-arched
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stone bridge, built c 1760 by Christopher Ebdon. It then curves north off the axis to wind up the wooded slope, separated from

the park to the north by a C19 ha-ha, before passing the church (dating from the late C11) and arriving from the north into the

courtyard at the east side of the Hall. This layout is shown on an early C18 map of the estate.

The line of the west drive continues through the Hall east to High Croxdale, a farmhouse to which wings were added c 1765 to

make it into an eyecatcher. Originally the axis was marked by an avenue planting of sixteen paired platoons, alternating square

and round, each of nine mixed deciduous and coniferous trees. The first six of the southern blocks of these paired clumps were

merged to form the plantation which gives shelter from the north to the walled garden, but otherwise no trace of this avenue

remains. The west and east avenues are shown on estate plans for which there is a receipt from William Robinson of Kepier,

Durham, dated April 1741.

PRINCIPAL BUILDING Croxdale Hall (listed grade I) is a large country house of squared sandstone, with an ashlar south

front, built in the Classical style with a gothic chapel. The U-plan house is of two storeys with graduated green slate roofs and

brick chimney stacks. The Old Hall was remodelled in 1759. To its east are C17 outbuildings (listed grade II), and to the north

of these, the church (listed grade I) with its early C12 nave; further to the east is the early C18 Priest's House (listed grade II*)

and the early C19 Home Farm (listed grade II*).

GARDENS AND PLEASURE GROUNDS The main garden, a 9acre (3.75ha) plot walled on three sides, lies to the south-

east of the Hall, separated from it by a strip of woodland known as the Cherry Gardens and shown on William Robinson's

plan of 1741. The garden is entered by a door in the high brick wall down its western edge (listed grade II). Presumably it was

established when the old walled garden south of the Hall was demolished in 1759. It is described by Surtees (1840) as being

laid out 'in a manner which combines, with the liberal air of modern landscape, the rich and quaint but neglected beauties of

the old fruit and flower garden'. The north side is also enclosed by a high brick wall, faced on its outer side with stone, which is

built with a series of eight south-facing triangular projections forming bays, presumably for the growing of fruit. It incorporates

a mid C18 orangery (c 1765, listed grade II) at its centre point, and the central section of the wall is flued. A walk runs the

length of the garden parallel to the north wall, to a double gate in the wall down the east side. The ground slopes down from

the walk to two lakes formed by the damming of the Skip Beck, which runs from east to west through the garden. The higher,

smaller lake is separated from the lower, serpentine piece of water by a grassed dam. Beyond the lakes to the south, the land

rises more steeply to a stone-faced ha-ha, at the base of which runs a partly stone-lined leat, dividing the garden from the South

Park. To the south of the eastern lake is the woodland garden or arboretum, planted up with exotics many of which are early

introductions, and which were remarked upon by Richard Surtees in 1840.

To the south of the Hall the ground falls away as an open area of lawn, down to the continuation of the retaining wall along the

southern edge of the garden. By this point, the leat and circuit walk around the gardens are high above the Skip Beck, which here

flows in a stone culvert and, at a point south-west of the Hall and visible from it, the water from the leat cascades over a stone-

built waterfall to join the stream below. The walk continues along the top of the southern and eastern bank of a steep wooded

ravine, along the floor of which runs the Croxdale Beck, the water being broken into a series of waterfalls. The path continues

south, through Croxdale Wood, following the deep ravine round the southern edge of South Park and forming a circular route

which links with the eastern end of the gardens. A series of C17 to C19 mills stood along the Beck, of which Croxdale Mill is

the sole survivor. Hutchinson, writing in 1787, describes the Croxdale Beck valley, mentioning the cliffs planted with forest

trees, the cascades and the falling stream, and the 'grand and awful scenes' presented by the rocks. Paths are cut from the top

of the ravine to a path that runs along the base of the rock outcrops and a lower path along the floor of the ravine.

PARK The South Park occupies the high ground round which the stream winds. Just off the summit of this eminence, on an

axis with a line north/south across the west front of the Hall, is a long, stone-lined canal. Originally this sat within an avenue

which took this line, but the canal appears to have post-dated the planting which was cleared, all except the trees alongside the

canal, shortly after it had been dug. The stumps of those trees which were left are still visible (1990s). Few of the scattered

park trees which covered the park remain (1990s), and the two clumps which formed distinctive features to the west and east

of the canal have also gone.
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To the north of the Hall, the site is enclosed by the loop of the River Wear, on the south bank of which is the moated farmhouse,

known as Low Butterby. Immediately north of the Hall is the area known as the North Park, bounded by the wooded valley of

the Croxdale Beck to the west and Croxdale Wood to the north. An icehouse stands on the valley edge c 300m north of the Hall.

Beyond this, c 400m to the north-east is the first of a string of three lakes, bounded to the east by Croxdale Wood and to the

west by an open area known as The Island, due to its enclosure by the River Wear along the western boundary of the site, and

Croxdale Beck to the south. The north-west tip of the park is divided into fields. The only trace that remains of the north avenue

which in the early C18 crossed the park is an ancient hornbeam standing in the North Park between the Hall and the Icehouse.

A number of eyecatchers in the further landscape close views: Durham cathedral to the north; Burn Hall to the north-west; the

tower of Brancepeth church to the west-south-west; and Sunderland village to the south-west. All are visible from the main

entrance of the Hall, on the west front, and are marked by arrows on Jonathan Hunter's plan of 1771.

KITCHEN GARDEN There is no area solely dedicated to use as a kitchen garden but in 1939 Country Life quoted Richard

Surtees 1840 description of the main walled gardens described above as 'a noble garden of 9 acres, laid out in a manner which

combines, with a liberal air of modern landscape, the rich and quaint but neglected beauties of the old fruit and flower garden'.
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Legal

This garden or other land is registered under the Historic Buildings and Ancient Monuments Act 1953 within the Register of

Historic Parks and Gardens by Historic England for its special historic interest.


